



HDIAC TECHNICAL INQUIRY (TI) RESPONSE REPORT

Therapeutic Uses of Brainwave Entrainment Using Low Audio Frequency Stimulation

Report Number:

HDIAC-BCO-2023-427

Completed May 2023

HDIAC is a U.S. Department of Defense Information Analysis Center

MAIN OFFICE

4695 Millennium Drive Belcamp, MD 21017-1505 Office: 443-360-4600

REPORT PREPARED BY:

Taylor H. Knight Office: HDIAC Information contained in this report does not constitute endorsement by the U.S. Department of Defense of any nonfederal entity or technology sponsored by a nonfederal entity.

HDIAC is sponsored by the Defense Technical Information Center, with policy oversight provided by the Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Research and Engineering. HDIAC is operated by the SURVICE Engineering Company.

					Form Approved	
REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions,					OMB No. 0704-0188	
data needed, and completing a	and reviewing this collection of	f information. Send comments reg	arding this burden estimate or an	y other aspect of this co	llection of information, including suggestions for reducing this	
burden to Department of Defer	nse, Washington Headquarter	s Services, Directorate for Informat	tion Operations and Reports (070	4-0188), 1215 Jefferson	Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302.	
		ORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS				
1. REPORT DATE (DL	D-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE		3. 1	DATES COVERED (From – To)	
17-05-2023		Technical Research	n Report			
4. TITLE AND SUBTIT	LE				CONTRACT NUMBER	
				FA	8075-21-D-0001	
Brainwave Entrain	ment Using Low A	Audio Frequency Stim	nulation	5b.	GRANT NUMBER	
	0					
				5c.	PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER	
				5d.	PROJECT NUMBER	
6. AUTHOR(S)						
				5e.	TASK NUMBER	
Taylor H. Knight						
				5f.		
				0.1		
7. PERFORMING ORG				8 1	PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT	
		AND ADDICESS(ES)			NUMBER	
Homeland Defense	e & Security Inform	nation Analysis Cent	er (HDIAC)	'		
SURVICE Engine						
4695 Millennium D						
Belcamp, MD 210						
	17-1000					
A 000100001100/1401			(50)			
9. SPONSORING/MOR		IAME(S) AND ADDRESS	(ES)	10.	SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)	
Defense Technica		er (DTIC)				
8725 John J. King				11.	SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT	
Fort Belvoir, VA 22	2060-6218				NUMBER(S)	
12. DISTRIBUTION/A	AILABILITY STATEN	IENT				
DISTRIBUTION A	 Approved for put 	blic release: distribu	tion unlimited.			
13. SUPPLEMENTAR	Y NOTES					
Directed Energy, N	ledical, Non-Leth	al Weapons				
0,						
14. ABSTRACT						
The Homeland Defense and Security Information Analysis Center (HDIAC) was asked to identify recent research (in the past						
five years) in the therapeutic uses of brainwave entrainment via low audio frequency stimulation. The desired range was from 0 to 40 Hz, accommodating brainwave frequencies from Delta to Gamma. Brainwave entrainment (BWE) refers to the brain's						
electrical response to rhythmic sensory stimulation, including pulses of light or sound. BWE produces electrical impulses in the						
brain that can be measured by an electroencephalogram or a magnetoencephalography and can range from the Delta to						
Gamma range. Technologies used to generate BWE typically include binaural beats, monoaural beats, and isochronic tones.						
During and after auditory stimulation, brainwaves can begin to resemble the stimulus rhythm, inducing a variety of mental states						
					elated with different mental states,	
					man behavior. HDIAC staff found	
that recent research results varied, although the overall available evidence suggests that BWE has the potential to be an						
effective therapy a	nd can influence h	numan mental states	and behaviors.			
15. SUBJECT TERMS (PROVIDED BY AUTHOR) brainwave entrainment, neural stimulation, binaural beats, monaural beats, isochronic tones, neural entrainment						
	nent, neural suillt	nation, binaulai beats	s, monaulai Deals, Is		הפנומו בוונומווווופוונ	
16. SECURITY CLASS	SIFICATION OF: U		17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON	
			OF ABSTRACT	OF PAGES	Ted Welsh, HDIAC Director	
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	UU	25	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include area	
U	U	U			^{code)} 443-360-4600	
					Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18	



About DTIC and HDIAC

The Defense Technical Information Center (DTIC) preserves, curates, and shares knowledge from the U.S. Department of Defense's (DoD's) annual multibillion dollar investment in science and technology, multiplying the value and accelerating capability to the Warfighter. DTIC amplifies this investment by collecting information and enhancing the digital search, analysis, and collaboration tools that make information widely available to decision makers, researchers, engineers, and scientists across the Department.

DTIC sponsors the DoD Information Analysis Centers (IACs), which provide critical, flexible, and cutting-edge research and analysis to produce relevant and reusable scientific and technical information for acquisition program managers, DoD laboratories, Program Executive Offices, and Combatant Commands. The IACs are staffed by, or have access to, hundreds of scientists, engineers, and information specialists who provide research and analysis to customers with diverse, complex, and challenging requirements.

The Homeland Defense & Security Information Analysis Center (HDIAC) is a DoD IAC sponsored by DTIC to provide expertise in eight technical focus areas: alternative energy; biometrics; chemical, biological, radiological, & nuclear (CBRN) defense; critical infrastructure protection; cultural studies; homeland defense & security; medical; and weapons of mass destruction. HDIAC is operated by SURVICE Engineering Company under contract FA8075-21-D-0001.

A chief service of the DoD IACs is free technical inquiry (TI) research, limited to 4 research hours per inquiry. This TI response report summarizes the research findings of one such inquiry jointly conducted by HDIAC.



Abstract

The Homeland Defense and Security Information Analysis Center (HDIAC) was asked to identify recent research (in the past five years) in the therapeutic uses of brainwave entrainment via low audio frequency stimulation. The desired range was from 0 to 40 Hz, accommodating brainwave frequencies from delta to gamma. Brainwave entrainment (BWE) refers to the brain's electrical response to rhythmic sensory stimulation, including pulses of light or sound. BWE produces electrical impulses in the brain that can be measured by an electroencephalogram or a magnetoencephalography and can range from the delta to gamma range. Technologies used to generate BWE typically include binaural beats, monoaural beats, and isochronic tones. During and after auditory stimulation, brainwaves can begin to resemble the stimulus rhythm, inducing a variety of mental states and consciousness. Different frequencies applied during BWE have been shown to be correlated with different mental states, and BWE overall has been found to improve cognition, memory, mood, stress, pain, and human behavior. HDIAC staff found that recent research results varied, although the overall available evidence suggests that BWE has the potential to be an effective therapy and can influence human mental states and behaviors.



Contents

About DTIC and HDIACi
Abstractii
List of Tablesiv
1.0 TI Request1
1.1 Inquiry1
1.2 Description1
2.0 TI Response
2.1 BWE Overview1
2.2 Research by Frequency2
2.2.1 Delta2
2.2.2 Theta
2.2.3 Alpha3
2.2.4 Beta4
2.2.5 Gamma5
2.3 Research Focused on Isochronic Tones and Binaural and Monaural Beats6
2.3.1 Isochronic Tones
2.3.2 Binaural and Monaural Beats6
2.4 Research Focused on EEGs and MEGs9
2.4.1 EEG9
2.4.2 MEG
2.5 Research Focused on Human Performance Experiments and Results
2.5.1 Sleep
2.5.2 Mental Health and Neurodevelopmental Disorder
2.5.3 Other
2.6 Conclusions 11
References12



Biography	17
Bibliography	18

List of Tables

Table 1. Brainwave Type and Characteristics	. 2
---	-----



1.0 TI Request

1.1 Inquiry

Can you provide a summary of recent research for therapeutic uses of brainwave entrainment (BWE) via low audio frequency stimulation?

1.2 Description

The Homeland Defense and Security Information Analysis Center (HDIAC) was asked to provide research for using low audio frequency stimulation for BWE therapy from the past five years to include technologies, techniques, and results on human performance. The frequency range should encompass delta to gamma (0–40 Hz).

2.0 TI Response

HDIAC searched a variety of science and technical databases, including the Defense Technical Information Center's Research & Engineering Gateway, the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), Elsevier's databases (to include ScienceDirect and Scopus), DeepDyve, and PubMed. HDIAC staff also performed a generic open-source search to identify relevant BWE research.

2.1 BWE Overview

BWE refers to the brain's electrical response to rhythmic sensory stimulation, including pulses of light or sound. It produces electrical impulses in the brain that can be measured by an electroencephalogram (EEG) or a magnetoencephalography (MEG) and can range from delta to gamma. Table 1 lists the different brainwave types paired with their frequency and characteristics [1].



Wave Type	Frequency and Characteristics		
Delta	0–4 Hz Associated with deep levels of relaxation and restorative, healing sleep		
Theta	4–8 Hz Involved in daydreaming and sleep		
Alpha	8–12 Hz Bridges the gap between conscious thought and the subconscious mind		
Beta	12–40 Hz Conscious thought and logical thinking, with stimulating effects		
Gamma	40+ Hz Higher processing tasks as well as cognitive functioning		

Table 1. Brainwave Type and Characteristics

During and after auditory stimulation, brainwaves can begin to resemble the stimulus rhythm, inducing a variety of mental states and consciousness. Applying different frequencies to the human brain appears to correlate BWE with different mental states while overall, BWE has been found to improve cognition, memory, mood, stress, pain, and human behavior. Recent research results are varied, although the available evidence suggests that BWE has the potential to be an effective therapy and can influence human mental states and behaviors.

2.2 Research by Frequency

Audio stimulation has been used across all brainwave frequencies to determine how BWE affects mental state and consciousness. Although many studies fall into multiple categories, each study was placed into one category for this report based on the frequency. What follows is five sections for five frequencies (delta, theta, alpha, beta, and gamma), each with a brief description of their related studies and how the audio frequency stimulation affected BWE in the brain.

2.2.1 Delta

Delta brainwaves are often associated with deep sleep and restorative relaxation. A 2022 study aimed to find whether binaural beat technology could enhance sleep quality and post-sleep mood [2]. Results showed that auditory stimulation with delta binaural beat enhanced sleep parameters such as sleep failure, the number of awakenings, real duration of sleep, sleep quality, and the feeling following waking up. Participants' moods improved by reducing anxiety and anger, but other mood parameters did not indicate a significant difference.

Two MEG experiments were conducted to contrast BWE to natural speech compared to qualitative different control conditions [3]. The first experiment used amplitude-modulated white noise, and the second experiment used spectrally rotated speech. Both experiments showed



that BWE in the delta band was stronger for speech compared to the control conditions. Effects emerged in the right temporal and the left inferior frontal cortex for both experiments. Based on the results, researchers concluded that the cortical speech entrainment observed in the theta band likely reflected a passive synchronization of the auditory cortices with the acoustic regularities of speech.

Delta band (1–4 Hz) neuronal responses supported the precision and stability of auditory processing, and a deficit in delta band synchrony could be relevant to auditory domain symptoms in schizophrenia patients [4]. Delta band synchronization (along with other frequencies) elicited by a 2.5-Hz auditory steady state response (ASSR) paradigm was compared in a group of patients with schizophrenia, a control group, and first-degree relatives of patients. It was found that the ability to sustain delta band entrainment in the auditory pathway in schizophrenia patients was dramatically reduced compared to the control and relatives' groups.

2.2.2 Theta

Research in the theta frequencies showed that 7-Hz binaural beats can increase relative power of the theta band in parietal and temporal lobes [5]. Six minutes of auditory stimulation using binaural beats was enough to significantly change the relative brain power. Results suggested that lengthening the duration of the stimuli to 9 min could also alter brain connectivity.

A 2018 investigation studied cortical oscillations using audio stimuli in the theta band and a MEG for recording purposes [6]. Participants listened to auditory stimuli and detected embedded target tones. Theta-band oscillations were observed for all presented stimuli and reflected a chunking mechanism. Results suggested an active auditory segmentation mechanism, complementary to entrainment, operated on a timescale of ~200 ms to organize acoustic information in the brain.

2.2.3 Alpha

Alpha binaural beats were used in a 2020 study to treat trauma in schizophrenia. Researchers hypothesized that augmenting eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR) with alternating bilateral photic stimulation (ABPS) at alpha frequencies was especially suitable for those with schizophrenia [7]. ABPS at these frequencies stimulated pseudo-hallucinatory visions and a waking dream state. The study proposed that those on the schizotypal spectrum can improve and maintain their mental health with the regular practice of ABPS-induced visioning, transitioning progressively from negative to positive schizotypes.



Cortical electrical activity in the alpha frequency band can be enhanced with sensory stimulation via the phenomenon of entrainment and may reduce pain perception [8]. A smartphone-based program which delivered 10-Hz stimulation through flickering light or binaural beats was developed for use at night pre-sleep, with the goal of improving nighttime pain and sleep and ultimately reducing subsequent pain and related daytime symptoms. This 2023 study aimed to assess the feasibility of the program and give an indication of the effect of the program for individuals with chronic pain and sleep disturbance. Pre-sleep alpha entrainment by audio stimulation appeared feasible for participants citing chronic pain and sleep disturbance. However, the effect on symptoms will require further exploration in more controlled studies.

A visual flicker paradigm was used to entrain individuals at their own peak alpha brain rhythm, as measured by resting-state EEG [9]. The study demonstrated that individual frequencymatched brain entrainment resulted in faster learning in a visual identification task compared to entrainment that did not match an individual's alpha frequency. EEG during entrainment showed that individualized alpha entrainment boosted alpha power, induced physical alignment in the pre-stimulus period, and resulted in shorter latency of early visual evoked potentials. This suggested that BWE facilitated early visual processing to support improved perceptual decisions. The study also suggested that this played a key role in neural oscillatory states in learning and brain plasticity.

Another study focused on using alpha frequency binaural beats was set up to assess tinnitus in the ear. Binaural beats with and without ocean waves were used as an auditory stimulus, and small improvements in tinnitus rating scores were observed with BWE. Some individuals showed more improvement with the binaural beats compared to just ocean waves alone. The addition of binaural beats at 8 Hz to an ocean sound showed no significant group benefits above the ocean sound alone [10].

2.2.4 Beta

Acoustic brain entrainment (ABE) in the EEG beta range (12–20 Hz) was compared to a placebo during day and night driving in 80 subjects. Effects were examined at the subjective (Karolinska Sleepiness Scale [KSS]), physiological (EEG), and performance levels [11]. The KSS decreased slightly after ABE compared to the placebo, up to 100 min after stimulation, and led to a significant increase in EEG beta activity compared to the placebo, up to 80 min after stimulation. ABE also led to a significant decrease in theta activity compared to the placebo, up to 70 min after stimulation. Faster reaction times were observed for the ABE compared to the



placebo condition during day and night driving, and stimulation in the beta range led to an increase in beta activity in the EEG.

BWE using alpha and beta waves was also used to investigate the effects of traffic noise and the relationship between frontal lobes and stress using an EEG [12]. It was observed that the alpha subwave decreased when the subjects were exposed to noises, and it increased after they were entrained by binaural beats. Beta subwaves increased when the subjects listened to noise and decreased when they were entrained by binaural beats.

2.2.5 Gamma

Gamma oscillations are important for neurocircuit function, behavior, and memory. To study a possible causal contribution of gamma oscillations to cognitive function, various types of brain stimulation are used to induce gamma oscillations [13]. Evidence suggested that gamma BWE improved cognitive function in mice and induced gene expression changes in multiple cell types, including neurons and microglia. Results also showed chronic gamma entrainment offered neuroprotective effects.

A 2023 study investigated the effect of gamma binaural beats on attention and stress by using the attention network test to assess three types of attention—alerting, orienting, and executive control [14]. This study did not find any evidence for improving attention based on self-rated measures of anxiety.

Gamma entrainment using sensory stimulus (GENUS), or gamma BWE, is a promising approach for treating patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD). Multisensory stimulation at 40 Hz has the potential to impact AD-related cognitive decline and neuropathological processes. The researchers of this study also emphasized the need for further research to use gamma BWE as a disease-modifying, nonpharmacological intervention [15]. A similar study from 2019 found that GENUS boosted hippocampal function and positively affected microglia, astrocytes, and vasculature in the auditory cortex and hippocampus in AD patients. Auditory tone stimulation improved spatial and recognition memory and reduced amyloid in the auditory cortex and the hippocampus of mice [16]. A widespread reduction of amyloid plaques was also observed in AD patients exposed to audio stimulation via GENUS.



2.3 Research Focused on Isochronic Tones and Binaural and Monaural Beats

Isochronic tones and binaural and monaural beats are all techniques used to create BWE. Each is a type of auditory stimulation with different tones or rhythms to elicit certain responses in the brain.

2.3.1 Isochronic Tones

Isochronic tones are single tones of the same frequency that come on and off at regular, evenly spaced intervals. They are produced by oscillating the amplitude of any sound off and on at a specific rate. The interval is brief, creates a rhythmic pulse, and is often embedded in other sounds [17]. Research into isochronic tones and BWE entrainment is minimal compared to binaural beats, but some studies suggest it could be an effective therapy.

One study investigated the effectiveness of isochronic tones in stress reduction and auditory BWE. Researchers examined the lasting effect of 8-Hz alpha isochronic tones on subjective stress and absolute alpha band power via an EEG [18]. Results did not support the hypothesis that isochronic tones would effectively lower stress and anxiety; further studies are required.

2.3.2 Binaural and Monaural Beats

Binaural beats are created by generating two tones with different frequencies presented to each ear. The difference between the tones and frequencies is processed in the brain, allowing the brain to perceive a specific beat. Binaural beats typically present a percussive beat effect that is present independently of the two original tones [19]. The speed, or type, of beat is equal to the difference between the frequencies of the tones, with frequencies ranging from delta to gamma. Binaural beats have been hypothesized to induce different states of mind via BWE. Research on binaural beats entrainment has gained attention due to its ability to treat various conditions like anxiety, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), sleep, memory, and mental well-being.

Monaural beat stimulation can be achieved by applying the same amplitude-modulated signal to both ears simultaneously. While both ears receive the same beat wave, perception of the beat does not require integration of the information (tones, beats, frequencies) as opposed to binaural beats.



Homeland Defense & Security Information Analysis Center

Binaural and monaural beats have multiple publications trying to support the hypothesis in a variety of ways. Many sought to determine if binaural beats improved sleep-related concerns, memory, attention, recovery from post deployment trauma, and overall well-being.

Medical

Some studies have investigated using binaural beats during medical procedures, including reducing pain and anxiety levels in surgical patients. Using music with binaural beats reduced the amount of a sedative needed during spinal surgery in a 2023 study [20].

Sleep

Overall, studying the effect of BWE using binaural beats on sleep performance has been very popular. Results are varied, as one study found binaural beat stimulation did not induce evident improvement of sleep disturbances more than pure music did, but it altered brain activity toward decreasing daytime alertness in subclinical insomnia [21]. Another study concluded that theta binaural beat frequencies (BBFs) could decrease stress to help induce sleep. A second phase will assess if theta and delta BBFs, including breaks to allow rapid eye movement, can sustain sleep to improve sleep efficiency [22]. The data will provide information to help construct an all-night audio program with the appropriate BBF and timing to trigger the correct sleep stage for better sleep efficiency. Other results demonstrated variability of ASSR, depending on BBFs of the stimulus as well as sleep stage [23]. The analysis of ASSR spectra supports the hypothesis that the brain falling asleep is a self-adjusting system related to incoming sound stimuli, contributing to deepening of naturally evolving sleep.

Memory and Attention

A systemic review of over 15 studies revealed conflicting results, especially concerning theta and beta's efficacy on memory and attention-related tasks [24]. The findings added to the growing evidence that binaural beat intervention improves attention and memory in humans. Since the findings suggested a near-moderate effect of auditory interventions and mixed results in the systematic review, more research is suggested in expanding the role of brainwaves in improving memory and attention in individuals.

Researchers in 2021 found listening to 40-Hz binaural beats improved attention but did not show any occurrence of neural entrainment [25]. Pink noise, binaural, and monaural beats were presented to a group of participants who were then asked to perform certain tasks. The number of incorrect answers was smallest in the group that listened to the binaural beats.



Finally, a 2019 study investigated a group of participants who listened to binaural beats either in the beta or theta range, which are associated with an active mind and sleep or tiredness, respectively [26]. Afterward, participants were asked to perform recall tasks. It was observed that people exposed to binaural beats in the beta range recalled more words correctly than those exposed to binaural beats in the theta range.

Mental Health

A study surrounding military service members investigated using theta brainwave frequency (4–7 Hz) in music with embedded binaural beats (known as binaural beat therapy [BBT]) compared to using music alone on the cardiovascular stress response in military service members with chronic stress following deployment [27].

When assessing pre and post heart rate variability findings, both groups showed a decline in Total Power HRV measures; however, the decline was more substantial in the music only group. In other words, those who did not use music with BBT showed more clinical signs of chronic stress when placed under a mental stressor. When comparing pre and post HRV low and high frequencies, those who used BBT had a decrease in low frequency and an increase in high frequency, whereas those who used music only had the opposite effect. In other words, when stressed, those who used BBT had a decreased sympathetic response and an increase in parasympathetic control, while those with music only had the opposite effect.

Those service members who used BBT also reported less stress over four weeks in their daily diaries.

Another study evaluated the use of heartfulness meditation and auditory BWE to help teenagers cope with mental health issues [28]. It used 30-min heartfulness meditation and 15-min brainwave entrainment sessions with binaural beats and isochronic tones three times a week for four weeks. Participants were put into four groups—control, audio BEW, heartfulness meditation, and combined. The singular BWE group did not see statistically significant improvements, nor did any of the intervention groups for brain health. The heartfulness meditation group improved their overall mood, stress levels, anger, and depression. Results suggested that adding audio BWE to heartfulness meditation might improve sleep quality and stress levels.



Monaural beats studies were more limited than binaural but still explored how audio stimulation affected BWE and, in turn, stress, anxiety, and mood. One study, which resulted in monaural beat stimulation modulating state anxiety, was in line with previous studies reporting anxiety-reducing effects of auditory beat stimulation [28].

2.4 Research Focused on EEGs and MEGs

EEGs measure electrical activity in the brain using small, metal discs (electrodes) attached to the scalp. When brain cells communicate, they show up as wavy lines on an EEG recording, making it easy to see changes in brain activity.

MEG is a noninvasive way to measure the magnetic fields generated by electric currents in the brain. It is used to map brain function and activity while evaluating a brain's spontaneous activity and checking its response to specific stimuli.

Both EEGs and MEG are used to measure brain activity produced during BWE.

2.4.1 EEG

EEG activity was recorded during an experiment to discern the reliability of neural entrainment in the human auditory system [29]. The study aimed to establish the reliability of neural entrainment over time and predict individual differences in auditory perception from associated neural activity. The results demonstrated that neural entrainment in the auditory system and the resulting behavioral modulation were reliable over time, and both entrained delta and nonentrained alpha oscillatory activity contributed to near-threshold stimulus perception. The latter suggested that improving auditory perception might require simultaneously targeting entrained brain rhythms as well as the alpha rhythm.

A 2018 study intended to develop and validate an EEG closed-loop system to deliver auditory stimulation during sleep to enhance slow waves. The EEG measured changes in sleep architecture that correlated with aging; younger participants showed significant slow-wave activity enhancement compared to older participants [30].

Researchers proposed a device that used noninvasive neurotechnology in acquiring any mental state, from heightened alertness to deep rest. The device used auditory brain stimulation and real-time EEG neurofeedback technology to produce a personalized binaural beat track for the user [31]. This track was designed to help the user achieve a particular mental state while also reducing the occurrence of dizziness sometimes experienced by binaural beat stimulation.



2.4.2 MEG

Researchers in 2021 explored the possibility of inducing a desired brain state by replicating distinct neural correlates found in a "donor" brain state [32]. Brain waves were recorded from a "donor" in a particular brain state using MEG to extract cortical signatures. This technique could provide noninvasive, nonpharmacological treatment of a variety of psychiatric and neurological disorders, although further experimentation was suggested.

2.5 Research Focused on Human Performance Experiments and Results

Measuring human performance while being exposed to BWE is the goal when studying the effects of entrainment. A variety of tests, experiments, and studies all aim to identify how human performance is affected by audio stimulation and BWE. The following studies explore a variety of ways human performance is impacted, including sleep and mental health disorders.

2.5.1 Sleep

Researchers from the AI Research Group in Korea developed a pillow integrated with audio speakers that produce alpha and theta beats to improve sleep, resulting in a positive effect on sleep onset latency [33]. This noninvasive stimulation technique is a promising candidate for wearable bioelectronics medicine. The pillow was designed and made to generate sounds for brain entrainment. The speaker generated synchronized pulsed tones at an alpha or theta frequency. The tones were applied 30 min prior to sleep to induce deep sleep and improve sleep quality. Sleep polysomnography was used to detect and record various biological signals, including EEG, electrooculogram, and electromyogram that appear during sleep.

2.5.2 Mental Health and Neurodevelopmental Disorder

Auditory BWE has been shown to improve relaxation, therefore lowering stress and anxiety. BWE can also be used to improve problem-solving skills, particularly in individuals with ADHD. Results suggested that brainwave entrainment had a moderate effect on the participant's problem-solving skills [34].

2.5.3 Other

BWE has been a method used as therapy in the Philippines to reduce anxiety and heighten concentration, facilitating the brain to enter a specific state. A study was conducted during athletes' precompetition routines to identify if wave-synchronized music influenced power performance [35]. Collegiate athletes participating in shotput, discus, and javelin events were



studied. Both high- and low-frequency waves were used during an 11-day period, with results showing that synchronizing alpha waves to music during warm-up led to significant increases in throwing distances of participants. Synchronizing theta waves to music produced significantly lower throwing distances compared to day-before and day-after observations. Throwing performance for the untreated observations showed an increasing trend before the theta wave treatment day. No long-term effect of alpha waves was directly seen after the intervention ended, and further studies using wave synchronizers were recommended.

A unique study from 2019 determined that different geometric forms and construction materials had an impact on brainwaves and consciousness when paired with a variety of BWE. It was concluded that there was an obvious relationship between the geometric forms of an architectural space and their construction materials and a users' consciousness [36]. Different forms allowed for different states of consciousness to be reached by a user, also dependent on the material used in the architecture. A pyramid shape resulted in BWE changing a user's state of consciousness to relaxation and comfort status using delta waves. This was also seen with the steel square and concrete dome. BWE was able to change a user's state of relaxation to one of mediation and creativity, theta waves were used, and the change occurred when a user was in a cylinder space (with steel, wood, or glass) or in a steel or wooden dome. This state could also be attained if a user stayed in a vault form made of concrete, steel, or glass. Alpha waves helped users achieve moderation in mental stability in a square space made of concrete cylinder.

2.6 Conclusions

BWE via audio stimulation using lower frequencies across a variety of topics generated mixed results. Overall, BWE is a promising, noninvasive technique that can induce certain mental states and levels of consciousness in the human brain. It has been found to improve cognition, memory, mood, stress, pain, and human behavior through various experiments over the past five years. In general, more research is needed to verify results and conduct larger studies to corroborate prior results.

References

[1] Elbaiuomy, E., I. Hegazy, and S. Sheta. "The Impact of Architectural Spaces' Geometric Forms and Construction Materials on the Users' Brainwaves and Consciousness Status." *International Journal of Low-Carbon Technologies*, vol. 14, issue 3, https://academic.oup.com/ijlct/article/14/3/326/4754470, 31 August 2019.

[2] Dabiri, R., M. R. Monazzam Esmaielpour, M. Salmani Nodoushan, F. Khaneshenas, and S. A. Zakerian. "The Effect of Auditory Stimulation Using Delta Binaural Beat for a Better Sleep and Post-Sleep Mood: A Pilot Study." *Digital Health*, vol. 8, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35615269/, 2022.

[3] Molinaro, N., and M. Lizarazu. "Delta (but not theta) Band Cortical Entrainment Involves Speech-Specific Processing." *European Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 48, issue 7, pp. 2642–2650, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29283465/</u>, 1 October 2018.

[4] Puvvada, K. C., A. Summerfelt, X. Du, N. Krishna, P. Kochunov, L. M. Rowland, J. Z. Simon, and L. E. Hong. "Delta vs. Gamma Auditory Steady State Synchrony in Schizophrenia." *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, vol. 44, issue 2, pp. 378–387, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29036430/, 15 February 2018.

[5] Ala, T. S., M. A. Ahmadi-Pajouh, and A. M. Nasrabadi. "Cumulative Effects of Theta Binaural Beats on Brain Power and Functional Connectivity." *Biomedical Signal Processing and Control*, vol. 42, pp. 242–252, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bspc.2018.01.022</u>, April 2018.

[6] Teng, X., X. Tian, K. Doelling, and D. Poeppel. "Theta Band Oscillations Reflect More Than Entrainment: Behavioral and Neural Evidence Demonstrates an Active Chunking Process." *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 48, issue 8, pp. 2770–2782, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29044763/, October 2018.

[7] Carr, P. "The Value of Visioning: Augmenting EMDR With Alpha-Band Alternating Bilateral Photic Stimulation for Trauma Treatment in Schizophrenia." *Medical Hypotheses*, vol. 144, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110184</u>, November 2020.

[8] Halpin, S. J., A. J. Casson, N. K. Y. Tang, A. K. P. Jones, R. J. O'Connor, and M. Sivan. "A Feasibility Study of Pre-sleep Audio and Visual Alpha Brain Entrainment for People with Chronic Pain and Sleep disturbance." *Frontiers in Pain Research*, vol. 4,

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpain.2023.1096084/full, 23 February 2023.



[9] Michael, E., L. S. Covarrubias, V. Leong, and Z. Kourtzi. "Learning at Your Brain's Rhythm: Individualized Entrainment Boosts Learning for Perceptual Decisions." *Cerebral Cortex*, vol. 33, pp. 5382–5394, <u>https://academic.oup.com/cercor/article/33/9/5382/6814397?login=false</u>, 9 November 2022.

[10] Munro, B. A., and G. D. Searchfield. "The Short-Term Effects of Recorded Ocean Sound With and Without Alpha Frequency Binaural Beats on Tinnitus Perception." *Complementary Theories in Medicine*, vol. 44, pp. 291–295, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2019.05.005</u>, June 2019.

[11] Moessinger, M., R. Stürmer, and M. Mühlensiep. "Auditive Beta Stimulation as a Countermeasure Against Driver Fatigue." *PLoS ONE*, vol. 16, issue 1, <u>https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0245251</u>, 1 January 2021.

[12] Norhazman, H., N. Zaini, M. N. Taib, R. Jailani, and M. F. A. Latip. "Alpha and Beta Sub-waves Patterns When Evoked by External Stressor and Entrained by Binaural Beats Tone." The 2019 IEEE 7th Conference on Systems, Process and Control (ICSPC), Melaka, Malaysia, pp. 112–117, <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/9068008</u>, 2019.

[13] Adaikkan, C., and L. H. Tsai. "Gamma Entrainment: Impact on Neurocircuits, Glia, and Therapeutic Opportunities." *Trends Neuroscience*, vol. 43, issue 1, pp. 24–41, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31836315/</u>, January 2020.

[14] Leistiko, N. M., L. Madanat, W. K. A. Yeung, and J. M. Stone. "Effects of Gamma Frequency Binaural Beats on Attention and Anxiety." *Current Psychology*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-023-04681-3</u>, 4 May 2023.

[15] Manippa, V., A. Palmisano, M. Filardi, D. Vilella, M. A. Nitsche, D. Rivolta, and
G. Logroscino. "An Update on the Use of Gamma (Multi)Sensory Stimulation for Alzheimer's Disease Treatment." *Front Aging Neuroscience*, vol. 14, eCollection 2022, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36589536/, 15 December 2021.

[16] Martorell, A. J., A. L. Paulson, H. J. Suk, F. Abdurrob, G. T. Drummond, W. Guan, J. Z. Young, D. N. Kim, O. Kritskiy, S. J. Barker, V. Mangena, S. M. Prince, E. N. Brown, K. Chung, E. S. Boyden, A. C. Singer, and L. H. Tsai. "Multi-Sensory Gamma Stimulation Ameliorates Alzheimer's-Associated Pathology and Improves Cognition." *Cell*, vol. 177, issue 2, pp. 256–271, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.02.014, 4 April 2019.



[17] Healthline. "Do Isochronic Tones have Real Health Benefits." https://www.healthline.com/health/isochronic-tones, accessed 11 May 2023.

[18] Moniz-Lewis, D. I., and C. M. Frederick. "Are Isochronic Tones Effective? The Impact of Isochronic Tones on Brainwave Entrainment and Stress." *Inquiries Journal*, vol. 12, issue 11, <u>http://www.inquiriesjournal.com/articles/1830/are-isochronic-tones-effective-the-impact-of-isochronic-tones-on-brainwave-entrainment-and-stress</u>, 2020.

[19] Lee-Harris, G., D. Blackburn, R. Timmers, and N. Humberstone. "Music for Relaxation: A Comparison Across Two Age Groups." *Journal of Music Therapy*, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30272211/</u>, 2018.

[20] Bae, J., S. Yoo, H. Kim, Y. Kim, J.-T. Kim, Y.-J. Lim, and H.-S. Kim. "Effect of Real-Time Binaural Music on Sedation With Dexmedetomidine During Spinal Anesthesia: A Triple-Arm, Assessor-Blind, Randomized Controlled Trial." *Journal of Clinical Anesthesia*, vol. 84, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinane.2022.110997, February 2023.

[21] Bang, Y. R., H. Y. Choi, and I.-Y. Yoon. "Minimal Effects of Binaural Auditory Beats for Subclinical Insomnia." *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology,* vol. 39, issue 5, pp. 499–503, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31433343/</u>, 1 January 2019.

[22] Gantt, M. A. "Study Protocol to Support the Development of an All-Night Binaural Beat Frequency Audio Program to Entrain Sleep." *Frontiers in Neurology*, vol. 14, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2023.1024726</u>, 26 January 2023.

[23] Shumov, D. E., D. S. Sveshnikov, E. B. Yakunina, Z. V. Bakaeva, O. V. Mankaeva, and
V. B. Dorokhov. "The Brain as an Adaptive Filter: Auditory Steady State Response to Sound
Stimuli Containing Binaural Beats During Human Daytime Nap." *Journal of Evolutionary Biochemistry and Physiology*, issue 58, pp. 1193–1203, https://doi.org/10.1134/S0022093022040226, 28 August 2022.

[24] Basu, S., and B. Banerjee. "Potential of Binaural Beats Intervention for Improving Memory and Attention: Insights From Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review." *Psychological Research*, online volume, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35842538/</u>, 16 July 2022.

[25] Engelbregt, H., M. Barmentlo, D. Keeser, O. Pogareli, and J. B. Deijen. "Effects of Binaural and Monaural Beat Stimulation on Attention and EEG." *Experimental Brain Research*, vol. 239, issue 9, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00221-021-06155-z, 10 July 2021.



[26] Garcia-Argibay, M., M. A. Santed, and J. M. Reales. "Binaural Auditory Beats Affect Long-Term Memory." <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29222722/</u>, 2019.

[27] Gantt, M. A. "Binaural Beat Technology: A Complementary Path to Post Deployment Wellness." Fort Belvoir Community Hospital, VA, AD1035883, Distribution A, 26 September 2017.

[28] Yadav, G. S., F. J. Cidral-Filho, and R. B. Iyer. "Using Heartfulness Meditation and Brainwave Entrainment to Improve Teenage Mental Wellbeing." *Frontiers in Psychology*, vol. 12, <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.742892/full</u>, 15 October 2021.

[29] Cabral-Calderin, Y., and M. J. Henry. "Reliability of Neural Entrainment in the Human Auditory System." *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 42, issue 5, pp. 894–908, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34893547/, 2 February 2022.

[30] Garcia-Molina, G., T. Tsoneva, J. Jasko, B. Steele, A. Aquino, K. Baher, S. Pastoor,
S. Pfundtner, and D. P. White. "Closed-Loop System to Enhance Slow-Wave Activity." *Journal* of Neural Engineering, vol. 15, issue 6, <u>doi 10.1088/1741-2552/aae18f</u>, 10 October 2018.

[31] Negi, S., R. Jain, S. Saboon, and S. Kwatra. "Automated Generated Binaural Beats Using EEG: A User-Friendly Auditory Brain-Computer Interface." 2021 International Conference on Smart Computing, Communications and Networking, SMART GENCON, Pune, India, <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9645921</u>, October 2021.

[32] Poltorak, A. "Replicating Cortical Signatures May Open the Possibility for 'Transplanting' Brain States via Brain Entrainment." *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnhum.2021.710003/full, 22 September 2021.

[33] Ho, C. M. B., H. Jeong, Y.-H. Lim, and S. J. Park. "Effects of Audio Brain Entrainment on Korean People With Mild Insomnia." *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10484-022-09570-2</u>, 4 November 2022.

[34] Lopez. M. A. "Brainwave Entrainment to Improve Problem-Solving Skills in People With the Neurodevelopmental Disorder ADHD." California State University Stanislaus, <u>https://www.csustan.edu/sites/default/files/groups/McNair%20Scholars%20Program/20192020J</u> <u>ournals/lopez_miguel.pdf</u>, 15 May 2019.



[35] Rebadomia, F. M. L., J. S. M. G. Amparo, J. P. Reyes, A. G. C. Cobar, and R. A. Camarador. "Effect of Music with Brainwave Synchronizer on the Performance of Collegiate Throwing Athletes." *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, issue 1, 5 March 2019.

[36] Elbaiuomy, E., I. Hegazy, and S. Sheta. "The Impact of Architectural Spaces' Geometric Forms and Construction Materials on the Users' Brainwaves and Consciousness Status." *International Journal of Low-Carbon Technologies*, vol. 14, issue 3, <u>https://academic.oup.com/ijlct/article/14/3/326/4754470</u>, 31 August 2019.



Biography

Taylor H. Knight is a research analyst and the Technical Inquiry Research Service Lead at the Defense Systems Information Analysis Center (DSIAC). She provides technical research services to answer defense-related inquiries submitted by the U.S. Department of Defense science and technology community. Prior to working for DSIAC, she worked in education for 10 years, with a focus in the science, technology, engineering, and mathematics disciplines. Mrs. Knight holds a B.S. in elementary education and an M.S. in human resources development.

Bibliography

Allen, C. "The Relationship Between the Temporal Structure of Magnetoencephalography Recorded Brain Activity and Capacity to Form Discrete Auditory Representations." *European Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 49, issue 12, pp. 1564–1574, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30474175/</u>, June 2019.

Griskova-Bulanova, I., K. Dapsys, S. Melynyte, A. Voicikas, V. Maciulis, S. Andruskevicius, and M. Korostenskaja. "40 Hz Auditory Steady-State Response in Schizophrenia: Sensitivity to Stimulation Type (Clicks Versus Flutter Amplitude-Modulated Tones)." *Neuroscience Letters*, vol. 662, pp. 152–157, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29051085/</u>, 1 January 2018.

- Guerra, A., D. Colella, M. Giangrosso, A. Cannavacciuolo, G. Paparella, G. Fabbrini, A. Suppa,
 A. Berardelli, and M. Bologna. "Driving Motor Cortex Oscillations Modulates
 Bradykinesia in Parkinson's Disease." *Brain*, vol. 145, issue 1, pp. 224–236,
 <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34245244/</u>, 29 March 2022.
- Hautus, M. J., D. Shepherd, E. Giang, and J. Landon. "Can Binaural Beats Facilitate Autonomic Recovery Following Exposure to an Acute Stressor?" *Complementary Theories in Clinical Practices*, vol. 45, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2021.101485</u>, November 2021.
- Herbst, S. K., and J. Obleser. "Implicit Temporal Predictability Enhances Pitch Discrimination Sensitivity and Biases the Phase of Delta Oscillations in Auditory Cortex." *NeuroImage*, vol. 203, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31539590/</u>, December 2019.
- Karuppathal, E., R. Kalpana, and A. V. Srinivasan. "Brainwave Entrainment Through External Sensory Stimulus: A Therapy for Insomnia." *International Journal of Medical Engineering and Informatics*, vol. 13, issue 4, pp. 323–333, <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMEI.2021.115962</u>, July 2021.
- Kaur, S., R. K. Krishnan, X. Yu, and J. Saniie. "Auditory Brainwave Entrainment System Using Time-Series Analysis of EEG Signal." 2022 IEEE International Conference on Electro Information Technology (eIT), <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9813957</u>, 7 July 2022.



- Korshunov, V. A., G. R. Khazankin, and D. S. Ivanishkin. "Development of an Application for Audio-Visual-Tactile Brainwave Entrainment in Patients With Affective and Psychosomatic Disorders." 2021 IEEE 22nd International Conference of Young Professionals in Electron Devices and Materials (EDM), <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9507617/authors#authors</u>, 16 August 2021.
- Lakatos, P., J. Gross, and G. Thut. "A New Unifying Account of the Roles of Neuronal Entrainment." *Current Biology*, vol. 29, Issue 18, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.07.075</u>, 23 September 2019.
- Lin, H., C. Watts, Y. Li, C. Early, A. Chan, and S. Subedi. "Introducing Scientific Measurement into Contemplative Practices." University of Houston-Downtown, AD1073461, 13 March 2018.
- Locke, H., J. Brooks, L. Arendsen, N. Jacob, A. Casson, A. Jones, and M. Sivan. "Acceptability and Usability of Smartphone-Based Brainwave Entrainment Technology Used by Individuals With Chronic Pain in a Home Setting." *British Journal Pain*, vol. 14, issue 3, pp. 161–170, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32922777/</u>, 2020.
- Monico, O., P. Prado-Gutierrez, A. Weinstein, M. J. Escobar, and W. El-Deredy. "Persistence of EEG Alpha Entrainment Depends on Stimulus Phase at Offset." *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, vol. 14, pp. 139, https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnhum.2020.00139/full, 9 April 2020.
- Maróti, E., F. Honbolygó, and B. Weiss. "Neural Entrainment to the Beat in Multiple Frequency Bands in 6-7-Year-Old Children." *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, vol. 141, pp. 45–55, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31078641/</u>, July 2019.
- Parker, D. A., J. P. Hamm, J. E. McDowell, S. K. Keedy, E. S. Gershon, E. I. Ivleva,
 G. D. Pearlson, M. S. Keshavan, C. A. Tamminga, J. A. Sweeney, and B. A. Clementz.
 "Auditory Steady-State EEG Response Across the Schizo-Bipolar Spectrum."
 Schizophrenia Research, vol. 209, pp. 218–226,
 <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31080153/</u>, July 2019.
- Perez, A., M. H. Davis, R. A. A. Ince, H. Zhang, Z. Fu, M. Lamarca, M. A. Lambon Ralph, and
 P. J. Monohan. "Timing of Brain Entrainment to the Speech Envelope During Speaking, Listening, and Self-Listening." Elsevier, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2022.105051</u>, 11 January 2021.



- Raza, M. U., and D. V. Sivarao. "Test-Retest Reliability of Tone- and 40 Hz Train-Evoked Gamma Oscillations in Female Rats and Their Sensitivity to Low-Dose NMDA Channel Blockade." *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 238, issue 8, pp. 2325–2334, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33944972/</u>, August 2021.
- Sasi, S., and B. Sen Bhattacharya. "Phase Entrainment by Periodic Stimuli in Silico: A Quantitative Study." *Neurocomputing*, vol. 469, pp. 273–288, <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0925231221015654</u>, 16 January 2022.
- Seymour, R. A., G. Rippon, G. Gooding-Williams, P. F. Sowman, and K. Kessler. "Reduced Auditory Steady State Responses in Autism Spectrum Disorder." *Molecular Autism*, vol. 11, issue 1, pp. 56, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32611372/</u>, 1 July 2020.
- da Silva, M., Jr., R. Covello de Freitas, W. Pinheiro dos Santos, W. W. Azevedo da Silva,
 M. C. A. Rodrigues, and E. F. Q. Conde. "Exploratory Study of the Effect of Binaural Beat Stimulation on the EEG Activity Pattern in Resting State Using Artificial Neural Networks." *Cognitive Systems Research*, vol. 54, pp. 1–20, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogsys.2018.11.002</u>, May 2019.
- Song, C.-B., N.-S. Kwak, M. Lee, and S.-W. Lee. "The Effect of a Binaural Beat Combined With Autonomous Sensory Meridian Response Triggers on Brainwave Entrainment." The 7th International Winter Conference on Brain-Computer Interface, BCI 2019, Gangwon, South Korea, <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8737329</u>, February 2019.
- Strüber, D., and C. S. Herrmann. "Modulation of Gamma Oscillations as a Possible Therapeutic Tool for Neuropsychiatric Diseases: A Review and Perspective." *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, vol. 153, pp. 15–25, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32240665/</u>, June 2020.
- Wilsch, A., M. R. Mercier, J. Obleser, C. E. Schroeder, and S. Haegens. "Spatial Attention and Temporal Expectation Exert Differential Effects on Visual and Auditory Discrimination." *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, vol. 32, issue 8, pp. 1562–1576, <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32319865/</u>, August 2020.